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Senate Select Committee on Mobile and Manufactured Homes
April 26, 1999 Hearing, 2:30 — 4 p.m.
Room 113, State Capitol
on
“Double-Renting” — Park Buvout and Rental of Homes

INFORMATION PAPER

Summary

California’s more than 600,000 mobilehome owners normally own their own homes but rent a
space in a mobilehome park on which their home is located. But in recent years, some park
operators have begun buying out homeowners and renting the homes and spaces as one unit, like
an apartment or conventional tenancy. Mobilehome owners argue that this practice, nicknamed
“double-renting,” has disenfranchised mobilehome owners by changing the status of those parks
from homeowner-type parks to a more transient population, has depressed home values for
homeowners still remaining in the parks, and has allowed park operators to out-maneuver
mobilehome owners on such issues as local rent control and conversion ordinances which protect
the mobilehome owners’ investment in their homes.

Background

According to the Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD), there are 5,070
mobilehome parks in California. As part of the Mobilehome Residency Law, Civil Code Section
798.4 defines a mobilehome park as an area of land where two or more mobilehome sites are
rented, or held out for rent, to accommodate mobilehomes used for human habitation. For
purposes of building code enforcement, Health and Safety Code Section 18214(a) has a similar
definition with the addition of a sentence which reads, “The rental paid for a manufactured
home or mobilehome shall be deemed to include rental for the lot it occupies.”

In layout, a mobilehome park can be likened to a small subdivision, with streets and utilities and
sometimes a community (club) house or other recreational facilities. The land along the streets is
divided into spaces separated and identified by lot markers. Each space usually consists of a
utility pedestal for electric, gas and water hookup, a short entry or driveway and an area or pad
for the installation of a mobilehome or manufactured home.

Traditionally, there are two owners: the park owner, who owns the park, and the homeowner,
who owns the home but rents or leases the space on which the home is installed. The land
owner may be a park operator, who hires his or her own manager to run the mobilehome park.
Or the land owner may lease the land on a long-term basis to a park operator and have nothing to
do with the actual operation of the park. Owners of manufactured homes enter into a rental
agreement with the park operator to locate their homes on the spaces. Despite the connotation,
most mobilehomes, once they are installed, are never moved from the park but are simply resold
in place, with the approval of the park management, to a new buyer. Many mobilehomes have
remained in the same park and on the same space for 30 or more years-and have been bought and
sold during that time by a number of different homeowners.
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In most parks, it is not uncommon for the park operator to own a few mobilehomes in the park.
Usually, the operator will provide a home for the site manager that is owned by the park. Many
park operators and managers are mobilehome dealers or salespersons, and some are real estate
salespersons. Sometimes, they will take an existing mobilehome in on trade for a new home, or
the homeowner or a homeowner’s heirs, on the death of a homeowner, may offer to sell the
home to the park to get rid of it. Park operators are often in a better position than the
homeowner to resell a mobilehome in the park for a profit to a new homeowner.

More recently, some parks have been buying homes in the park to rent them out like apartments,
changing the park into a so-called “landlord-tenant park.” But mobilehome owners left in the
park, who continue to own their homes but rent the spaces, often feel threatened. They say they
are concerned that: 1) the character of their park is declining because of management rentals to
an increasing number of non-homeowner tenants who move in and out in a matter of months
with little interest in the upkeep of the homes or spaces; 2) if the use of the park is allowed to be
changed to a conventional landlord-tenant status, the equity in their homes will evaporate and
they will be forced out of the park with little or no compensation; and 3) in certain rent control
jurisdictions, with formulas which allow parks to become rent-control exempt when mobilehome
owners only constitute a minority of the residents, the management will economically evict them
with higher rents and take their homes for the back rent they owe.

The Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) has no information or
statistics available on how many mobilehomes in parks are owned by the park management or
park operators and rented out to tenants. The committee, lacking the resources to do a survey,
has not been able to verify how pervasive the practice of “double-renting” by park operators may
actually be.

How Park Operators Buy Mobilehomes in the Park

Generally, there are two ways for the park operator or management to buy mobilehomes located
in the park, either by buying the homes from existing homeowners or by taking title and
possession after an eviction or abandonment.

Resales: In the sale of a home, there are, of course, normally two parties, the buyer and the
seller. But in the case of a mobilehome located in a mobilehome park, there is an additional
party - the park owner or management. This is due to the fact that the homeowner living in a
park is both a homeowner as well as a tenant of the space on which the home is installed. Hence,
the buyer and the seller may agree to terms for the sale of the home, but the park management
may deny approval of the buyer as a resident if the buyer, in the management’s view, cannot
afford to pay the rent and charges required to live in the park, or , based on prior rental history,
cannot comply with the park’s rules and regulations. Additionally, unless the park is located in
a vacancy control rent control jurisdiction, the park can impose a higher rent on the buyer than
the seller was paying. -As a condition of approving the sale, the management may also require
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various upgrades or cosmetic improvements to the home, such as new skirting or awnings, which
add cost to the sale. Often, the park will require the buyer to sign a long-term lease, exempt
from local rent control, or an agreement waiving the buyer’s right to sue the park and requiring
arbitration of disputes, as a condition of tenancy.

Homeowners complain that sometimes the management intimidates their prospective buyers at
the interview stage, either by discouraging them by imposing various conditions on the sale or
trying to dissuade a buyer from purchasing their home by switching him to a home for which the
management serves as the agent. In some parks, despite abolition of the old “17 year law”,
complaints have been received claiming the park management still insists that the mobilehome
cannot be sold in place because it is too old and must be removed from the park. For the average
mobilehome owner, mobilehomes are expensive to move, most parks will not accept older
homes, and few parks have vacant spaces to accommodate them anyway. Most parks will not
permit subletting, and a homeowner who must move due to a job change or illness has no option
but to pay rent on an empty home if he wants to keep the home in the park in order to resell it in
place. According to some homeowners, these practices discourage many would-be buyers and
make it difficult for homeowners to sell their homes. Thus, many selling homeowners, facing
these prospects, eventually end up accepting the management’s offer to buy their home for much
less than the equity they have in it.

Lien Sale or Abandonment: Under the Mobilehome Residency Law, there is “just-cause”
eviction. Homeowners can only be terminated for one of 7 reasons listed under Section 798.56,
such as failure to pay the rent and charges, failure to abide the park rules, conduct on the park
premises which constitutes a substantial annoyance to other homeowners, etc. If a homeowner is
not able to pay the rent under 798.56, she is served with a 3-day notice to pay along with a 60-
day notice of termination. If she doesn’t pay, or even after paying late rent is subject to the 3-
day late notice more than twice within a 12-month period, on the third notice she must move
within 60 days or face an unlawful detainer action in court. If the homeowner is subsequently
evicted and has not been able to work out a deal with the park management to sell the home in
place and cannot move it, the management can file a warehouseman’s lien on the home. Subject
to notice and other procedures, and upon a court ordered sale may purchase the home for the
amount of the storage lien and costs. Likewise, where the homeowner has abandoned a
mobilehome pursuant to a termination or otherwise, the park may file an abandonment action.
Under this procedure, the park owner files a petition with the court. Upon a hearing, if the court
determines that the criteria for abandonment have been met, it may award attorneys costs and
fees to the park owner and permit the home, subject to notice, to be put up for bid at a public sale
conducted by the management. If there are no other bids, the management may thus purchase
the home for the costs of the abandonment proceeding.

Some Effects of “'Double-Renting”

The practice of “‘double-renting” in mobilehome parks would appear to have an effect on, or be
affected by, other mobilehome issues, such as the Mobilehome Residency Law, local
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mobilehome rent control, and the conversion of mobilehome parks to other uses.

1) Circumventing the Mobilehome Residency Law. The Mobilehome Residency Law (MRL),
the landlord-tenant law for mobilehome parks, was codified in 1978 from a number of different
sections enacted in the Civil Code to protect mobilehome owners. In recognizing that
mobilehome owners living in parks own their own homes, the Legislature provided them with
unique protections over and above those found under conventional landlord-tenant law, such as
just-cause eviction and various notice requirements, among others. Some contend that if the park
management can completely buy out the homeowners in the park and rent each home and space
as a unit, like an apartment, the management does not have to comply with the MRL. In fact,
although attorneys may differ, a 1997 Legislative Counsel’s Opinion contends that residents who
don’t own a home in the park, but rent both a mobilehome and its space, are subject to
conventional landlord-tenant law, not the MRL. See addendum. Thus, for park operators who
believe that the Mobilehome Residency Law provides too much regulation of the park industry,
circumvention of the MRL may provide an incentive to buy the homes.

2) Counting for Rent Control:- About 100 local jurisdictions in California have some form of
rent control affecting about 1/5 of the parks within the state. These ordinances vary from
locality to locality. Some local rent ordinances provide for certain exemptions, such as an
exemption upon a new vacancy, or a requirement that a certain percentage, such as 67%, of the
homeowners in a given park approve the rent schedule or lease offered by the park management
in order exempt the park from the local ordinance. In the case of such a percentage requirement,
how the requisite number of residents is counted in order to exempt the park from rent control is
crucial. Park residents who own their mobilehomes are concerned that tenants without any
home ownership interest are being counted as “homeowners” or members of a “homeowner
association” in order to exempt an entire park. If a sufficient majority of the homes in the park
are owned by the management and rented out like apartments, the management may be in a
better position to influence those tenants through rebates or discounts to agree to the
management’s rent schedule than the homeowners who continue to own their homes in the park.
Tenants have no investment in the home to worry about, and don’t have to sell or move their
homes from the park if the rents are raised beyond their ability to pay. Thus, if a sufficient
number of tenants are counted as “homeowners” who support the management’s proposed rent
schedule, the park may qualify for the exemption under the local rent ordinance. If only actual
mobilehome owners were counted, however, the exemption probably could not be obtained.

3) A Change of Use or Not. If a park owner buys up all or most of the mobilehomes in the park
and rents them to tenants like apartments, is there a change of use of the park requiring approval
of the appropriate local entity? Legislative Counsel has also opined that where the conversion is
from a zoned use, a city or county could require a park operator to obtain a conditional use
permit in order to convert the park to one in which both the homes and spaces are rented. See
addendum. Usually the process whereby the park buys most or all the homes in the park is a
gradual one. Therefore, the park operator does not propose a change of use at the front end. By
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the time the city or county discovers that the use is being changed, the majority of homes have
already been bought by the park, leaving a minority of homeowners to fend for themselves with
the park operator and the local entity over what if any reasonable relocation assistance should be
afforded to them when the park completes the change and requires the rest of the homeowners to
move out. Some homeowners feel the change is not really a change. The park is still there, the
homes are still there, and the park is still collecting rents for a residential use. The only change,
they say, 1s not in the use of the land but in the change in legal ownership of the homes, which
now belong to the park operator or management, a change which also may exempt the park from
local rent control, if applicable, and other requirements.

A Legislative Look

In the last year, two bills have been introduced in the Legislature to deal with problems relating
to the issue of “double-renting.”

S.B. 1954 (Peace, 1998). This bill addressed the issue of which residents are counted for
purposes of a local rent control ordinance. S.B. 1954 would have required that a homeowner, as
defined in the Mobilehome Residency Law, to not only have a tenancy in a mobilehome park
under a rental agreement but have either title to the mobilehome, be the registered or legal
owner, or be a purchaser of the home. The bill would have also provided that a mobilehome park
rent control ordinance shall not include or affect a person who rents a mobilehome in a park.
Status: The author at the request of the sponsor dropped the bill.

A.B. 1644 (Floyd. 1999). This bill addresses the change of use issue. A.B. 1644 amends the
Mobilehome Residency Law to provide that a mobilehome park may not change the use of the
park and terminate the residency of mobilehome owners where the real purpose is to buy out the
homeowners and continue park operation by renting out the homes as a landlord-tenant park.
Status: Pending a hearing in the Assembly Housing and Community Development Committee

Purpose of the Hearing

The purpose of the April 26™ hearing is to address the reasons why park owners are buying
mobilehomes in their parks, what problems have been created for mobilehome owners by the
practice of ‘‘double-renting,” and what alternatives exist for the resolution of these problems.

Addendum: 1997 Legislative Counsel Opinion

# ##
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Honorable William A. Craven
3070 State Capitol

Mobilehome Residency law - #12892

Dear Senator Craven:

QUESTION NO. 1

Does the Mobilehome Residency Law apply to the
relationship between mobilehome park management and its tenants,
when management owns both the land (spaces) and the mobilehomes
located on those spaces and rents a mobilehome together with a
space to a tenant?

OPINION NO. 1

The Mobilehome Residency Law does not apply to a
mobilehome park in which all tenants rent both a mobilehome and
the site on which it is located from management but, rather, their
relationship is governed by the principles of law generally
applicable to landlord and tenant. Where the park consists both
of tenants who rent the space but who own the mobilehome and
persons who rent both space and mobilehome, only those limited
provisions of the Mobilehome Residency Law expressly applicable to
residents are applicable to those latter described persons, and
their fundamental rights as tenants such as those relating to the
nature of the rental agreement and termination of tenancy, are
governed by the general law relating to landlord and tenant.

ANALYSIS NO. 1

The Mobilehome Residency Law, contained in Chapter 2.5
(commencing with Section 798) of Title 1 of Part 2 of Division 2
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of the Civil Code,! is the primary statutory scheme affecting
mobilehome tenancies. It governs the relationships between
homeowners, residents, and mobilehome park management (owners and
their agents), the rental agreement, park rules and regulations,
fees and charges (including special notice requirements for
termination of such a tenancy), park homeowner meetings,
termination of mobilehome tenancies, transfer of mobilehomes or
mobilehome parks, as well as certain aspects of subdivisions,
cooperatives, and condominiums for mobilehomes.

Thus, the following definitions are central to answering
the question posed:

"798.2. 'Management' means the owner of a
mobilehome park or an agent or representative
authorized to act on his [or her] behalf in
connection with matters relating to a tenancy in
the park."”

"798.3. (a) 'Mobilehome' is a structure
designed for human habitation and for being moved
on a street or highway under permit ...

* % %M

"798.4. 'Mobilehome park' is an area of land
where two or more mobilehome sites are rented, or
held out for rent, to accommodate mobilehomes used
for human habitation."

"798.8. 'Rental agreement' is an agreement
between the management and the homeowner
establishing the terms and conditions of a park
tenancy. A lease 1s a rental agreement."
(Emphasis added.)

"798.9. 'Homeowner' is a person who has a
tenancy in a mobilehome park under a rental
agreement." -

"798.11. 'Resident' is a homeowner or other

person who lawfully occupies a mobilehome."
(Emphasis added.)

"798,.12. 'Tenancy' is the right of a
homeowner to the use of a site within a mobilehome

1 A11 section references are to the Civil Code unless
otherwise indicated.
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park on which to locate, maintain, and occupy a
mobilehome, site improvements, and accessory
structures for human habitation, including the use
of the services and facilities of the park."
(Emphasis added.)

Thus, a "homeowner" may or may not be a park "resident,"
and a park "resident" is not necessarily a "homeowner." The
extent to which the Mobilehome Residency Law will apply to a
particular "resident" will turn on whether he or she is a
"homeowner."

Additionally, subdivision (a) of Section 798.55 states:

"798.55. (a) The Legislature finds and
declares that, because of the high cost of moving
mobilehomes, the potential for damage resulting
therefrom, the requirements relating to the
installation of mobilehomes, and the cost of
landscaping or lot preparation, it is necessary
that the owners of mobilehomes occupied within
mobilehome parks be provided with the unique
protection from actual or constructive eviction
afforded by the provisions of this chapter."

We think it is clear that the definitions set forth
above indicate that the provisions of the Mobilehome Residency Law
are intended to apply to the landlord-tenant relationship created
by the rental of a "site" in a "mobilehome park" by a "homeowner"
who locates his or her mobilehome in the park. Although certain
provisions of that law are expressly applicable to both
"homeowners" and "residents," those provisions do not relate to
the fundamental rights and responsibilities of the relationship
(such as those pertaining to the nature of the rental agreement
and termination of tenancy), but rather to various incidental
matters (see, for example, Secs. 798.29.5 (notice of interruption
of utility service); 798.33 (pets); and 798.51 (right to assemble,
public meetings)). Additionally, Section 798.55 evidences the
clear intent of the Legislature to give special protections to
mobilehome homeowners in eviction proceedings because of the
unique problems of mobilehome ownership. Thus, we think that the
Mobilehome Residency Law does not apply to define the
landlord-tenant relationship of those who rent both the site and
the mobilehome since these persons do not fall within the
definition of "homeowner" pursuant to Section 798.9, nor does such
an arrangement create a park "tenancy" pursuant to Section 798.12
since a tenancy is limited to "the right of a homeowner to the use
of a site ... on which to locate, maintain, and occupy a
mobilehome." When such a person rents site and mobilehome in a
park otherwise composed of homeowners, his or her rights under the
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Mobilehome Residency Law are limited to those provisions expressly
applicable to residents. The terms and conditions of his or her
tenancy are governed by the general rules of the law pertaining to
landlord-tenant. Axiomatically, Mobilehome Residency Law is
entirely inapplicable to a park where all tenants rent both their
site and mobilehomes, as that park is not a mobilehome park,
pursuant to the above definitions. Therefore, where all
mobilehomes and sites are owned by park management, the
fundamental rights and responsibilities of the tenancy would be
controlled by the general principles of state law regarding
landlord-tenant relationships (Sec. 1940 and following; see
Adamson Companies v. Zipp, 163 Cal. App. 3d. Supp. 1, as to
applicability of standard unlawful detainer procedures to a
nonowner resident of a mobilehome park).

Accordingly, in our opinion, the Mobilehome Residency
Law does not apply to a mobilehome park in which all tenants rent
both the mobilehome and the site on which it is located from the
management but rather their relationship is governed by the
principles of law generally applicable to landlord and tenant.
Where the park consists both of tenants who rent the space but who
own the mobilehome and persons who rent both space and mobilehome,
only those limited provisions of the Mobilehome Residency Law
expressly applicable to residents are applicable to those latter
described persons and their fundamental rights as tenants are
governed by the general law relating to landlord and tenant, such
as those relating to the nature of the rental agreement and
termination of tenancy.

QUESTION NO. 2

May a city or county require a mobilehome park owner to
obtain a conditional use permit in order to convert the park to a
park in which both sites and mobilehomes are rented?

OPINION NO. 2.

Where the conversion is a change from permitted zoning
usage, the legislative body of a city or county could require a
mobilehome park owner to obtain a conditional use permit in order
to convert the park to a park in which both sites and mobilehomes
are rented.

ANALYSIS NO. 2

Initially, Section 7 of Article XI of the California
Constitution grants to any city or county the power to "... make
and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and
other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general
laws." The power conferred upon cities and counties by this
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provision of the California Constitution is generally known as the
"police power" (see People ex rel. Younger v. County of El Dorado,
5 Cal. 3d 480, 495; In re Pfahler, 150 Cal. 71, 80; In re Smith,
143 Cal. 368, 371).

The prerogative of cities and counties to regulate land
through zoning regulations has long been held to be a valid
exercise of their police power, as derived from Section 7 of
Article XI of the California Constitution (Associated Home
Builders, etc. v. City of Livermore, 18 Cal. 3d 582, 604-605;
Rancho La Costa v. County of San Diego, 111 Cal. App. 3d 54, 60,
cert. den. 68 L. Ed. 2d 326; G&D Holland Construction Co. v. City
of Marysville, 12 Cal. App. 3d 989, 994).

A city or county's authority to issue conditional use
permits is linked to its power with respect to enacting and
administering zoning ordinances under Section 7 of Article XI of
the California Constitution (see also Sec. 5, Art. XI, Cal.
Const., as to additional powers of charter cities; see also Sec.
65803, Gov. C.). Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 65800) of
Title 7 of the Government Code statutorily provides for 1local
authority to adopt and administer zoning regulations. In this
regard, a legislative body of a city or county is specifically
empowered to hear and decide applications for conditional use
permits (Secs. 65901 to 65904, incl.).

A conditional use permit is a special dispensation for a
use barred by the zoning ordinance (Tustin Heights Assn. v. Bd. of
Supervisors, 170 Cal. App. 2d 619, 633). A provision for the
granting of a conditional use permit is usually found in the basic
zoning ordinance. A local ordinance may authorize the granting or
denial of a conditional use permit upon finding that the proposed
use 1s, or is not, essential or desirable to the public
convenience or welfare (Wheeler v. Greqgq, 90 Cal. App. 2d
348, 360).

Thus, if a conversion such as the one posed deviates
from permitted zoning usage, the city or county could require a
conditional use permit in order to effectuate the conversion.

In this regard, Section 65863.7 of the Government Code
provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

"65863.7. (a) Prior to the conversion of a
mobilehome park to another use ... the person or
entity proposing the change in use shall file a
report on the impact of the conversion, closure, or
cessation of use upon the displaced residents of
the mobilehome park to be converted or closed. In
determining the impact of the conversion, closure,

10
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or cessation of use on displaced mobilehome park
residents, the report shall address the
availability of adequate replacement housing in
mobilehome parks and relocation costs.

* % %

"(e) The legislative body, or its delegated
advisory agency, shall review the report, prior to
any change of use, and may require, as a condition
of the change, the person or entity to take steps
to mitigate any adverse impact of the conversion
... on the ability of displaced mobilehome park
residents to find adequate housing in a mobilehome
park. The steps required to be taken to mitigate
shall not exceed the reasonable costs of
relocation."

Thus, Section 65863.7 of the Government Code requires
the preparation of a report on the impact of the conversion of a
mobilehome park to another use upon the displaced residents of the
mobilehome park and authorizes the local legislative body to
condition approval of the change on mitigation of any adverse
impact of the conversion on the ability of displaced residents to
find adequate housing in a mobilehome park (see Secs. 798.10,
798.27, and 798.56 for required distribution of this report to
park residents and specified notice requirements for such a
conversion).

Thus, where the conversion is a change from permitted
zoning usage, it is our opinion that the legislative body of a
city or county could require a mobilehome park owner to obtain a
conditional use permit in order to convert the park to one in
which both sites and mobilehomes are rented.
Very truly yours,

Bion M. Gregory
Legislative Counsel

AL i

Marla L. Bondonno
Deputy Legislative Counsel

MLB:cfv
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SENATE SELECT COMMITTEE ON
MOBILE AND MANUFACTURED HOMES

SENATOR JOSEPH L. DUNN, CHAIRMAN
“DOUBLE-RENTING” HEARING
STATE CAPITOL, ROOM 113

MONDAY, APRIL 26, 1999
2:30 p.m. - 4:00 p.m.

SENATOR JOSEPH L. DUNN, CHAIRMAN: Welcome everybody to
the second meeting this year of the Senate Select Committee on Mobile and
Manufactured Homes. We will, even though we are starting ten minutes
late, we should stay pretty much on the agenda and get through everybody by
about 4 o’'clock. As everyone in the room is aware, we're here to hear
testimony about the issue of “double renting,” both those representing
residents of mobilehome parks and representative of the owners of those
parks as well as other interested parties.

There has been a background paper that’s been prepared. I know we
first ran out of some, and then we've got additional copies, and there are
some additional copies up here as well. I'd also like to mention if papers,
studies, other things are mentioned during the testimony and you’d like to
get copies, just jot them down on a piece of paper and give them to us
afterwards. We'll try our best to try to secure copies for you or at least let you
know eventually where you can obtain those materials.

There are, without question, concerns from both sides concerning the
“double renting” issue. We want to hear from both sides, residents and
owners of the parks, to hear about the arguments in favor of doing something

about it, arguments against, how it would affect both sides. So we're going to
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hear from every side of the issue. I ask that everyone be courteous to all of
the witnesses. If you are one of the witnesses, we ask you to speak clearly
and slowly for us so that we can all understand. There will probably be
questions along the way as well. But again, I ask everybody to be courteous
to each other as we move through this process.

I know John Tennyson, the consultant to the committee, has already
spoken to you about some of the procedures that we must adhere to today. 1
won't go back into those. I will let everybody know if you are not on the
agenda, to please give your name to the Sergeant-at-Arms. We'll do our best
to get you on at the end of the already scheduled witnesses if you wish to
make some comments that have not already been made during the testimony.
We'll try our best to get you in there at the end.

I'd also like to introduce, and I will do this as they come through during
the afternoon--the other committee member who i1s here with us today and
that is Senator Wes Chesbro. Senator, any comments you'd like to make?

SENATOR WES CHESBRO: Well, I'm just glad to see you all here,
especially the large numbers of people from my district. Had a chance to
meet with some of you earlier, and I am looking forward to the testimony on
today’s issue. So welcome, and remember how much more interesting and
effective it is for us to hear from real people telling real stories as opposed to,
and I'm not besmirching the professional people here in the building, but it
really, really makes a difference to hear people telling from the heart stories
of how what we do in this building affects you. So I'm glad that you're here,
and I'm glad that you're working to get your message across.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay, without anything further, let’s move right
into the witnesses. I'm going to call them up three at a time. And soifI can

call Mr. Priest, Mr. Persily, and Mr. McAtee. And again, for all of those
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present, please identify yourself, who you represent, and let us begin, of
course, with Mr. Priest.

MR. MAURICE PRIEST: Thank you, Senator Dunn, and Senator
Chesbro. We sincerely appreciate the hearing that you've scheduled today on
the “double renting” problem. It is one that 1s affecting mobilehome owners
statewide whether they happen to be members of GSMOL or not. They're
affected by a practice that seems to be growing throughout rental
mobilehome parks in the state. And that is the practice by park owners of
purchasing homes previously brought into the park by mobilehome owners at
the times they commence their tenancy, purchasing those homes, and then
renting out those home themselves. So, in effect, the park owner becomes the
landlord for that mobilehome. Renting out both the mobilehome and the
space to a tenant rather than the mobilehome owner.

Several years ago, GSMOL in cooperation with Western Mobilehome
Association discussed a bill that required park owners to comply with their
own rules and regulations. And at that time, the legislation indicated that if
a park owner adopted certain rules which he expected his residents to comply
with, he should do the same. In other words, management, employees, park
owners, all of the employees within the park should comply with those same
rules and regulations. We did not dictate whether a park owner could sublet
mobilehomes within the park. We didn’t dictate whether he would prohibit
subletting or allow subletting. But we felt that if a park owner chose to adopt
a “no subletting” rule in the park, that he should not be permitted to, in
effect, sublet homes that he was buying.

And one of our compromises on the bill with the park owners and the
bill became law, stated that clearly park owners would have the right to

purchase for the use of their park employees housing adequate for the
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number of employees within the park. For example, some of the largest
parks that have hundreds of spaces, they might have and would have a full-
time resident manager. They might have an assistant manager. They might
have grounds keepers, maintenance personnel that would basically be there
in the park. And we felt that a park owner who needed several homes in
which to house his employees conducting the park business was entirely
reasonable.

What we've seen 1s a growing practice among park owners of
purchasing homes, re-renting those homes, and basically decreasing the
number of homeowners within the park. An example, I believe, to be one of
the most egregious abuses of this practice has occurred recently in Marin
County. Mr. Coleman Persily our second witness, is a GSMOL vice president
who will address the problems occurring within his region. A homeowner
who has been personally affected by this will be our third witness, Mr. Gene
McAtee, seated to my right.

One of the examples--and the Sergeant, I believe, has passed out a
letter from which was “cc’ed to me--this had to do with the announced closure
of a mobilehome park called, Redwood Mobilehome Park in Novato. This is a
very recent example. It’s still in the works. This letter is dated November
16, 1998, and it was written to residents of Redwood Mobilehome Park by the
park owner’s attorney. I'm “cc’ed at the bottom because I was representing
some of the homeowners, and I would direct your attention to the second
paragraph which says, “For those of you who are renting mobilehomes from
the park owner, and do not own your home, this closure impact report does
not affect your tenancy. The owner of the mobilehome park is in the process
of closing the mobilehome park but does not intend to stop renting the

mobilehomes owned by him at this time. He will stop renting pads to people
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who own their own homes, but for the time being will continue renting
mobilehomes.”

Now, the reason that I wanted to provide this example, this makes it
very clear that this park owner is purporting to close his mobilehome park.
But those who drive down Redwood Boulevard, where Redwood Mobilehome
Park is located in Novato, won't see any physical changes in that park. For
the better than 90 percent of the same homes, or spaces, the only thing that
has changed in that park is the title to the mobilehomes. All but two
homeowners have left. They've left the park. Their homes are occupied by
renters now renting directly from the landlord.

When the park owner announced the closure of the park just over a
year ago, he represented to the city of Novato that he was closing the park, “a
change of use.” And I want to be clear that from GSMOL’s perspective, we're
not attempting to stop a true and legitimate “change of use” of mobilehome
parks if they're actually closing or if they’re actually changing. We do have
other legislation such as AB 690 that we believe should be passed to fairly
and adequately treat homeowners who are displaced. But we have never said
that park owners should not have an option to close if there’'s some legitimate
reason for them doing so.

But the example that I've given you is basically a misrepresentation.
This is a park owner who would like the world and local officials to believe
that he’s closing the park, changing to another use, and the only thing he
intends to do is to run out homeowners such as Mr. McAtee, who you’ll hear
from. And I think that’s deplorable. I don’t think--and this is why we have
introduced AB 1644 being carried by Assemblymember Dick Floyd--we don’t

believe that park owners should be able to announce that they’re closing their
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parks, that they're changing the use of parks, when their purpose in doing so
is just to become a landlord/tenant and utilizing those same mobilehomes.

The final comment that I'd like to make with regard to this example is
that Novato had adopted a mobilehome rent regulation ordinance. And as
you may know, the rents in Marin County can be extremely high. The
average rent paid by mobilehome owners living in Redwood Mobilehome Park
before they were forced out was in the average of $350 per month for their
space rent. Many of the them still had mortgage payments on their homes.
But $350 was the average space rent.

Since moving out the homeowners and forcing their evictions or
removal from the park, in some cases purchasing their homes, the owner of
this park is now renting those homes for $750, $850, close to $1000 per
month. To add insult to injury, this park owner has placed many of these
homes and spaces under the Section 8 HUD program. He is seeking out low
income renters that qualify for Section 8. There’s nothing wrong with that. I
mean, low income people, many of whom are mobilehome owners, need a
place to live. But he’s now collecting federal tax dollars through Section 8 of
as much as a $1000 per month to rent out these same homes from which he’s
forced out homeowners. In effect, he’s tripled his income through the
restriction under the rent regulation ordinance, is getting triple the income,
he’s getting it from tax dollars, and I guess it’s a wonderful business if you
can get away with it.

But I don’t think that is an appropriate application or appropriate
interpretation of the laws. We believe the law needs to be clarified, and
that's why we're supporting AB 1644. And I believe that the letter I've given
you is about as clear an example as can be given to at least clearly present

what this one park owner’s intent is. And I think if a park owner is truly
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changing or converting the use, if he’s closing the park, and if it complies
with the other state law--and I hope one of them will soon be AB 690--but if
he complies with those laws, we're not saying he shouldn’t be able to. But he
shouldn't be able to call it a conversion of use for a park closure if he’s just
forcing out our homeowners to expand his landlord/tenant income.

Thank you, and with that Mr. Coleman Persily is a vice president of
GSMOL, and we appreciate him being here as well.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. Persily.

MR. COLEMAN PERSILY: Thank you.

Dear members of this Senate committee. My name 1s Coleman Persily.
I reside in Contempo-Marin Mobilehome Park in San Rafael, California. I
am vice president of the GSMOL, and my territory covers all Northern
California.

I know we all would like to see residents in mobilehome parks,
especially senior citizens, live out their lives without having to worry about
being forced out of their homes because of some park owner tactics. The
previous state Legislature recognized this as a need and passed many laws to
protect this class of resident. However, some park owners discovered a tactic
to overcome the state and local authority protection laws and ordinances by
using the “double renting” tactic. They merely turned the mobilehome park
into a landlord/tenant park by gradually buying up or picking up the deserted
homes instead of selling the homes. They rent out the homes that rents three
or four times the previous space rent, and gradually, but surely, turn the
park from a mobilehome park which may have state and local protection into
a park-owned, landlord/tenant park. At that point, it is no longer a

mobilehome park with state and local ordinance protection, but a park where
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the senior and other low income residents will be forced to move because of
the rent increases.

We, therefore, ask that you protect the status quo insofar as
mobilehome living is concerned, and help us protect the senior citizens and
low income residents of mobilehome parks by voting for the “double renting”
now before you. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. McAtee.

MR. EUGENE MCATEE: Good afternoon, Senator Dunn and
honorable committee persons. I am Eugene McAtee, and I reside at No. 2, El
Novato Court, in the city of Novato in Marin County. I've been a mobilehome
owner since 1989.

The issue of “double renting” has affected me personally since 1995
when the owner of my park embarked on a path of acquiring each home in
our park and raising that space rent as high as he wished. One year ago he
terminated the tenancies of the remaining 50 percent of the homeowners in
the park when making the public claim that he was causing a “change of use”
in the park. At that time, he stated to the city of Novato that he was closing
the park. In November of last year, after he had acquired nearly 75 percent
of the homes by various means, he changed his park closure information to
state that he was only refusing to rent to homeowners in the park.

He further informed his new tenants that anyone renting both the
mobilehome and space from him would be permitted to remain in the park
indefinitely. His attorney told the city of Novato that, “This is the way you
close a mobilehome park.”

I hope you can realize that this is the way serious harm can befall
California’s largest stock of affordable housing. The direct harmful effect in -

this case was to force lawful homeowners from their legally-owned personal
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property under the guise of park closure. The next harmful effect was to
triple the park rents, and to destroy the affordability of the housing. I believe
that the direct effect of the invocation of the change of use provision of the
California Government Code Section 65863.7 was to destroy the affordability
of the small neighborhood in Novato. No clear proposal for definite “change
of use” for the property was ever explained and no plans for one are being
considered by the city. |

I believe that due to a substantial lack of clarity in this Code Section,
the city of Novato was misled into thinking that they were compelled to
approve the park owner’s proposal. In reality this was simply a constructive
eviction from which all mobilehome owners in California are protected under
the Mobilehome Residency LLaw. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. McAtee, and hold on Mr. Priest, I have a
few questions for you.

Just walk me through. You said that he was terminating the tenancies
through various means. Can you explain what you mean by that?

MR. MCATEE: At the start of his ownership of the park, he passed
information subtly through his first managers that he was in the process of
closing the park, and that anyone who wished to sell their home, had to sell it
to him for $1,500. And they could not sell it to anyone from the outside.

Even before he actually filed legal foreclosure documents, approximately a
year ago, through one of his managers, he made an assertion in a letter to us
from his manager that we were to inform anyone seeking interest in our
home if they were going to buy it, that the plans for the park might include
closure. So what he had been doing for some time was applying very clear
economic coercion upon the homeowners by implying repeatedly that he was

at some point going to close the park. So in this course of time, there were
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only one or two people that actually were allowed to sell to someone from the
outside. Everyone else believed him because they presumed that he was
being a man of his word.

At this time, I was informing some of the homeowners, certainly those
who came to me and asked for clarification, that lacking a closure report,
lacking a statutory notification and lacking otherwise good reason to refuse
new tenancies at the time of change of sale, that the park owner had no right
to do what he was doing. But virtually no one took me at my word, so we
lost--by the time he made his park closure issuance, 50 percent of the park.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: What's the current status of that park?

MR. MCATEE: There are two of us actual homeowners left, and there
are at least five of the original residents still in the park.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Out of how many original residents?

MR. MCATEE: I would estimate that there were probably 80, but that
number fluctuates a lot. This is in 44 units.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay.

Mr. Priest, a question for you. And this I'm going to ask of several of
the witnesses along the way this afternoon. How often do we see this occur?
Is this an increasing problem, decreasing problem? Do you have statistics
showing how often it has occurred?

MR. PRIEST: 1 would say based on our experience, it’s hard to put a
number to some of them. But I would say that probably half of the park
owners who have chosen a rule that says there will be no subletting engage in
the practice themselves even though they don’t permit their homeowners to
do it. That’s a fundamental issue.

In terms of closure of the park, it’s a growing trend. The Novato

example 1s close by, and that’s a personal one. But there are many parks

21



that have undergone a “change of use” in closure, and I think many of those
examples have been when the park owner intended to do a specific
development, has had plans ready to go, and has done that. That’s been the
historical experience.

But I know--I'm here saying it publicly--if park owners can do what this
park owner has done in Marin County, if they're permitted to do that under
the law, and they can triple their income, and do so by getting tax dollars to
do it, there’s no doubt in my mind that it’s going to become more of a trend.
And that’s why we need to address the issue now.

The notice that the park owner gave through his attorney, I have a
copy of it here, and I can see that Mr. Tennyson gets one following the
hearing. But this is a notice dated April 8, 1998. It says, “Notice of intent to
change use of the park and to terminate your tenancy.” And it specifically
told everyone in the park in writing that they had to be out by April 15, 1999.
So the park residents as well as the city would believe in looking at this that
there was going to be a specific change of use, “closure of the park” and not
simply a change on title documents.

Yet, that’s not specifically clarified in existing law, and that’s one of the
things we need to do through AB 1644.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: You, or one of you, I can’t recall which, indicated
that the park owner was able to prohibit the mobilehome owners from selling
to others besides him. Through what mechanism was he able to exercise--

MR. PERSILY: The mechanism is that in order to get into the park,
you've got to go to management. So when the buyer goes to management, the
park, one way or another, declines his reason for coming into the park. And
this is what they’re doing all over the place. Sothat even, for example, when

they want to get rid of a small home, and put a big one in, and you want to
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sell your small home, and a buyer comes along, and goes to the management
to get in. And the management in a nice way tells you to get out without
accepting you. So as a result a person in a small home cannot sell his home.

And then of course we go into a bigger thing which was described by
Priest and McAtee on a bigger scale. We have a lot of park owners who are
doing subletting gradually but surely aiming to get rid of the protection that
they got from the mobilehome ordinance and from the state.

Thank you.

MR. PRIEST: Senator, in response to your question. If anyone else in
the world would buy these homes, they had to move them out of the park.
And as the home--ironically, the park owner admitted in his impact report
that his own survey indicated that there were no spaces within the general
area that would accept these homes due to their age. So, in effect, it was
either to sell to him or not at all. But if anyone else wanted them, they would
have to relocate the homes and move them out.

SENATOR CHESBRO: I would just like to comment, Mr. Chairman.
These are very compelling stories about the impacts on individuals, but I'd
also like to point out, Marin County’s a very good example, although two
counties to the north that I represent, Sonoma and Napa, experienced similar
things. These are counties that have a great challenge in providing
affordable housing in general. And so the impact of loss of affordable units is
a much broader and significant issue than these very real impacts that I'm
not trying to diminish or minimize the impacts on the individuals that live in
the home parks. But in terms of the overall housing need in those counties
for affordable places to live, it would mean that we're going backwards
instead of moving forward in coming up with more affordable units. So

that’s, I think, a broader, societal concern we need to look at.
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MR. PRIEST: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. Priest, just one other question. Can you
give me an estimate based upon your experience on the percentage of
mobilehome parks that this is happening to. I mean if we have 5,000 in the
state. Nobody’s going to hold you to it, just rough approximation from your
perspective and what you hear.

MR. PRIEST: In the park closure bill for compensation, AB 690, we
were estimating that anywhere from 1% to perhaps 2 percent of the
mobilehome parks at any one time would be going through some closure
process. And that’s just an educated estimate on my part. But that would
basically pencil out to, I believe, anywhere from 150 to perhaps 200 parks
statewide. And that’s potentially a lot of people.

But that means parks that are in some stage of closure, whether
they've given notices as this park owner did a 12-month notice, 12 months
from now, we're closing, you're out. That effectively kills the resale market
right there. Realtors in the area quit showing homes, mobilehome dealers--
why show a home that’s for sale in a park that’s going to be closed in 12
months. But that’s a rough estimate, and I know that we have industry
representatives here that may have their own--

CHAIRMAN DUNN: And I'll be asking the same question as well, too.

Thank you very much, each of you. Why don’t we call up the next
three? And again, going in the same order, we invite Don Gilbert, Craig
Biddle, and Jeri McLees, and we’ll bring up Greg Evans, as well.

MR. CRAIG BIDDLE: Mr. Chairman and members, Craig Biddle
representing the Western Mobilehome Park Owners Association. I have two
witnesses with me who are both members of our association who have parks

and who rent spaces directly, and I'll ask them to testify afterwards and tell
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you why they do it. T'll ask them each to tell you as Mr. Tennyson puts in his
analysis, why they do it and what problems are created as a result of that.

At the outset, I'd like to make a couple of comments myself. Our
association and GSMOL have been discussing the whole subletting issues, if |
can call it that, for a number of years. We've had a number of cases of
legislation, and we've worked closely with GSMOL trying to solve this
problem. Because it’s a problem not only for their association but for ours.
And we've been unsuccessful in doing that over the years although we've
attempted to do that in several pieces of legislation.

I think though, Mr. Tennyson’s paper, Mr. Chairman and members,
raises a lot of important issues today. And it even says in his paper that he
doesn’t--I think he mentions because of the resources of your committee--
doesn’t have all of the facts or the information. And I think this is important
for this committee and all of the commaittees to really know the exact facts
and information. As an example, Mr. Priest just told you that he believes
that there’s about 150 mobilehome park owners who are in the process of
doing a closure. Two weeks ago, he testified to that fact of 150. But he said
last time, he said that was 150 over a five-year period. Not that are going
through the process now, but 150 have closed over a five-year period over the
last five years. We don’t have those statistics. We don’'t know exactly the
number that are closing, and we think this committee should find that out
though. I think that would be important.

I'd like to call your attention also that when we close a mobilehome
park in the state of California a result of a law that was passed many years
ago, over ten years ago--and I believe Senator Craven was the one, and your
predecessor, that offered the bill--we have a very complicated process to go

through before we close a mobilehome park. After the notice goes out, we
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have to do an impact report on what effect this will have on the homeowners
in the park. We have to have a public hearing before the local governmental
agency. The local governmental agency has a right to mitigate damages on
the effect of the closure, and they often impose many conditions upon us.

There is a limit that this cannot exceed the “reasonable costs” of
relocation, and that’s in the statute now. When we get into an argument as
to what that means, oftentimes because there’s no space where you can move
the mobilehome, or it’s getting too old and can’t be moved. But we have a lot
of those problems and have had those and are continuing working on them.
But going to the issues that are raised by your committee paper, what types
of problems we have, while we're in the process we don't call 1t “double
renting”, we call it renting the mobilehomes and the space.

And let me turn it over now to Mr. Greg Evans who has parks that are
involved with this and does it and why he does it and let him explain to you
some of the problems that he perceives or doesn’t perceive that are the cause.

MR. GREG EVANS: Good afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity.
My name 1s Greg Evans. I operate a management company that operates
approximately 18 mobilehome parks in California, Arizona, and Nevada.
Additionally, I own mobilehome parks myself, and do rent mobilehomes in
some of those parks.

As to the questions why we do this. I want to give you two examples--
tape turned--and reasons for it. The first is in Hemet. As you probably are
well aware, there has been a very soft housing market in that area. And at
one point, the park that I operate down there and have operated for about 12
years, which had been full, found itself with a 30 percent vacancy factor in
150 spaces. Meaning when you drove into the park, one third of the spaces

were vacant. Nobody was living on those. The homes had left.
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We also found at this time that due to changes in regulations for the
requirements for installation, particularly earthquake tie-downs and
bracings, the cost of installing, bringing homes back into the park, had
jumped by $7,000 to $10,000. So if a home moved out and down to the
Boulevard, and the park owner went out and bought it and moved it back
into the park, the cost of replacing that very same home was up by $7.000 to
$10,000. So in order to preserve the community, in order to stop the
hemorrhaging, we embarked upon a process of aggressively attempting to
acquire homes in that park. Not by forcing people out, not by employing any
subterfuge or tactics, we simply went out and offered market, and in many
cases above market, prices because we knew the cost of moving a home back
into the park had this $7,000 to $10,000 premium. And in order to keep the
park full, in order to keep the park viable so that we are now able to start
turning it around, we're able to offer an attractive community, and we're
starting to bring new homes back in. That economy is changing.

But that park might not have survived economically had we not had
that opportunity to do so. We didn’t sell them at great profits, many times we
were just trading dollars in acquiring and getting in and out of these homes.
That’'s Hemet. So that was one market.

I operate and own a park in Santa Cruz County which is a very
different market. My family’s owned that park since 1961, and at one time or
another my family has always owned and rented homes in that park. It has
not been for the purpose of closing the park. We would have done that in the
last 38 years. Quite the contrary. It started out years ago as an
accommodation because it was a senior community, and some folks would
come out, and they’d be finished there. They'd want to leave, they may go to

a rest home, they may move back to families or they'd pass away. We

27



acquired homes as an accommodation really to our residents. Over the period
of time, we have acquired a number of homes. So have 12 other people in
that park, all of who sublet in that community, and we have very few
problems in that park. It is an older park, it is over 50 years old, and we
invest substantial dollars into the rehabilitation of the homes so that they
remain clean, comfortable, and affordable housing in the county.

We have very few problems in having these rental homes side by side
with owner-occupied homes. And some people go back and forth. They rent
the homes, they move in. Sometimes they move back out. It provides more
opportunities, and more choices for the residents in the park as to how they
may want to use their home. It has not been a problem for us. Those are two
examples of very different reasons why park owners get into mobilehome
rentals.

Now, as for practices as to utilizing unfair tactics in trying to keep
people out or destroying sales, there are mechanisms in place that specifically
delineate the two reasons why we can deny somebody residency in a
mobilehome park. I don’t believe that it is a viable opportunity or a tactic
that a park owner can employ to try to destroy sales. The liability is just far
too great to try and do something like that. And that's not what we're out to
try and do. We want our parks to be full. We want them to be communities
that are viable and operate clearly and nicely.

That is essentially my testimony.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Let me ask you a couple of questions before we
move on. You mentioned that there is other recourse if there was an owner,
for example, that employed certain not-so-nice means to force the resale

value down to purchase a home. What are those recourses?
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MR. EVANS: Well, I would have to say, for example, if a park owner
were trying to destroy the value of those homes, he would have to do so by
trying to impede the value through a sale. Well, state law already requires
the only two reasons that a park owner can currently deny an applicant
coming in is if the applicant does not have the financial ability to pay the fees
and charges of the parks. Secondly, if they cannot comply with the park’s
reaspnable rules and regulations based upon prior tenancies. So the burden
of proof, if you will, 1s on the park owner to make a determination within 14
days as to the viability of an incoming applicant. And if the resident passes
both of those tests, and they’re not difficult tests to pass, we cannot stop a
transaction from going forward as a park management.

SENATOR CHESBRO: What about in the earlier case that we were
talking about. I don’t expect you to know or comment specifically, but just
generically, where the park owner essentially said that he was closing the
park, and so their only option was to sell to him or move it.

MR. EVANS: I can’t comment as to a particular case like that. If park
owners believe they could force people to sell mobilehomes to them that have
value of $20,000 or $30,000 for $1,500, I'm sure they tried to do that. But
this is the first time I've ever heard of an instance like this. T suspect it’s an
1solated case.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: The Hemet situation that you described. How
come there’s a third vacancy in the first place?

MR. EVANS: It's a very soft and depressed market. The economic
forces, I suspect, related to a couple of things. First of all, in 1988, the federal
Fair Housing Act changed. That park had been a 45-and-over age park, and
due to federal changes in law, parks had to either go to housing for older

person status, or all age. And the market in Hemet is largely housing for
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older persons. So we had a different customer base to go to. Secondly, the
cost of retiring in California is much higher than it is in Nevada or Arizona,
and we were finding that the seniors were not coming to Hemet. They were
going to Laughlin, to Las Vegas. There’s no income tax there. Much cheaper
cost of living. So we had a very difficult marketplace based upon demand.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay, let’s go on to the next one. We're probably
going to come back with more questions, but go ahead.

MS. JERI MCLEES: Mr. Chairman, members of the committee, my
name is Jeri McLees, and I've been involved in the mobilehome park industry
since 1975. I had the privilege of working with Craig Biddle in the legislative
arena for 17 years, but I've owned a mobilehome park since 1985, and also
serve as a property supervisor for mobilehome parks.

Part of my testimony, Greg has usurped, so I'm going to pass over that.
But I did want to give you a real-life example of here in Sacramento, and I
think it’s important for you to recognize since many of you at least are living
here when the Legislature’s in session. Sacramento, as you know, is not
under rent control, but we have had over the last four or five years some
major other economic circumstances that have hit us and made the economy
go upside down.

My business partner bought a beautiful manufactured housing
community called Brook Meadow in 1994. Two hundred, thirty-five units,
up-scale, really a lovely community. We had 11 vacant home sites. We had
lots of great ambitions for doing some marvelous additional things in the
community. And then in 1995 and 1996, we found ourselves in a scenario
that he with 35 years in the business, and me with 25 years in the business
had never seen. We had homes leaving the community through foreclosure.

We had a group of dealers from Nevada, the Reno area, who virtually came in
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and took 11 homes out of our community in one week. They went door-to-
door to the residents and offered top dollar and bought them. We had
abandonments. And we did have a few people that I did evict because they
either didn’t pay their rent or a couple that just were not meeting our
standards. And much as we would try to work with them after months, and
months, and months, we really had no option.

In the spring of 1998, out of 235 homesites, we found that we had 67
non-paying homesites. Now, we're in the business of providing affordable
housing, and we truly believe in doing that, but we're also in a business. And
we had a mortgage to pay, we had utility bills to pay. We had a number of
things that we had to continue paying no matter whether those homesites
were paying. We ended up for various reasons never buying a home through
coercion from a resident, but we bought homes from the banks after they did
foreclosures. Oftentimes the rents were current with us, but they weren't
paying their mortgages. We bought from heirs whose parents had passed
away and they lived in Massachusetts, and they didn’t know what to do with
these houses, and they willingly asked us if we would purchase them. And
we also even with the extreme cost, we brought some homes in that were late
modeled homes.

In the spring of 1998, with 67 non-paying homesites, we owned 40
homes. We had over $500,000 invested in the housing stock alone, and I'm
going to tell you the cash flow was just absolutely in the red. And we had to
bite the bullet. And what we did is we decided to rent our homes just as if
they were under general landlord/tenant law to people that we screened very
carefully. We had a careful security deposit system. We made sure that
these people complied with the rules and regulations of our community. And

we're delighted to say, we didn’t rent a lot of them, but we're delighted to say
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that we rented 12 of them. They've been rented for over a year, and we
haven’t had one problem.

What it did do is it gave us some cash flow, which helped my other
residents. It occupied some homes that otherwise would not have been
occupied. And if you go through any kind of community site-build or
mobilehome, and you see a lot of empty walls and landscaping not quite
maintained as well as when somebody’s living there, you can appreciate it as
important for the rest of the residents. My residents at Brook Meadow know
that I'm doing this. And although they had a little bit of nervousness in the
beginning, I think they also worked with me.

And now we're at that spot where the economy 1s turning around.
We've got some of these tenants who are trying to buy the homes, which
delights me. We have one that already has. I'd be glad to sell all of the
houses tomorrow, but the Sacramento economy just doesn’t allow that. What
has happened for us and I think it’s really important, the homeowners in a
mobilehome park have an equity interest in their home, and they have the
protections of just cause eviction, all the protections that the Legislature has
given them for years. The key is when somebody is renting a home from me,
they're renting just as if it’s an apartment, a condominium, a subdivision, a
site-built house.

But I have the ability if something goes wrong, to quickly go in and
remove that person from my community. I cannot do that necessarily from
the bad apple homeowner. It’'s much more difficult to remove the bad apple
homeowner from the community. It’s a key, it’s not “double renting.” It’s not
subletting. It’s my property. It’s a complete property. I own the house, I own
the land, and I've got to have that ability to make those tough economic

decisions to keep my community going. Frankly, in Brook Meadow, if |
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hadn’t been able to do what I did, I would have had to adjust the rents to all
my remaining homeowners just to cover my basic cost. So kind of like Greg,
we did it for economic reasons.

Nobody has any statistics unfortunately, but I would bet you if you took
a poll of the mobilehome park owners, the vast majority would not like to go
into the landlord/tenant issue. They'd much prefer to be the providers of the
land management as we have done for all these years. That’s why we own
mobilehome parks, and not apartment buildings.

Thank you very much.

MR. DON GILBERT: Mr. Chair, members of the committee. Don
Gilbert representing California Mobilehome Park Owners Alliance. My
testimony will be very brief.

I just want to first state that California Mobilehome Park Owners
Alliance concurs with the testimony of WMPOA, its witness, and also I think
that the testimony of the previous panel of witnesses as well as the
background report suggests that in order to really make fully informed
decisions here as to whether and what kind of legislation might be required,
that some kind of study to get those statistics you're asking for and to get
that concrete sort of non-anecdotal based information that you're asking for
would be warranted. We would not have any problem at all with that.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Let me direct a question probably more
appropriately to Mr. Gilbert or to Mr. Biddle. And pardon my ignorance, if I
may, but I understand as you've described there may be circumstances where
you believe it’s necessary for you to sublet if you own the home and you sublet
to a tenant. What is the reasoning behind, as I understand, most parks’

prohibition on a mobilehome owner subletting their own unit?
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MR. BIDDLE: Let me see if I can answer it this way. In the past,
we've had many problems in this area. We get into the problem, first of all, if
a person buys the mobilehome and immediately sublets it, doesn’t ever live in
the home for a while first. So he just bought it for the purpose of subletting.
Then they get into the problem of how often do they sublet. Is it for
weekends, is it for a short period of time? The other tenants in the park don’t
want to have people coming in and moving out all the time, continually.

We also have problems with the subtenant. How do they abide by the
rules and regulations and whether they do or they don't? And if they don’t
abide by the rules and regulations, how do we enforce the rules and
regulations against the subtenant where the tenant of the park is long gone?
We have a whole series of these problems.

Some of our parks do allow subletting into a three-way rental
agreement with the subtenant, the tenant, and the park management. And
they've been able to work out some of these problems in that way. I can’t give
vou the percentage, maybe Mr. Evans can, what percent prohibits subletting.
Many of our parks allow subletting--

CHAIRMAN DUNN: What's your guess, Mr. Biddle?

MR. BIDDLE: I'd say around 50 percent, something like that.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Prohibit it across the board?

MR. BIDDLE: Yes, that’s just a guess.

But they have problems. They’ve had them in the area, and we've had
them in the past.

Let me just state, Mr. Chairman, I think it’s important--Mr. Gilbert
was just saying this--I think it’s important that you, the committee, know all
the facts that are involved in this problem. Because the Novato case that Mr.

Priest talked about is one part, and that’s in litigation. I don’t have the facts
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on that park, but maybe you should have those. But I think there’s a lot of
misunderstanding about what the true facts are.

As an example, Mr. Tennyson in his paper talks about some ordinances
that are triggered that the whole park would be exempt from rent control
after a certain percentage of homeowners in the park are no longer
homeowners that were renting out those spaces. Well, I'm not familiar with
those ordinances. Now, there may be an ordinance like that, but I checked
with all of our people, and of the 100 ordinances, they couldn’t find one
ordinance that has that provision in it. But Mr. Tennyson refers to that.

But I think you should know those facts before you do anything in this
area. If there 1s such an ordinance, we are unaware of it. WMPOA 1s
unaware of it. Maybe Mr. Tennyson can give us the ordinance, and I think
you should have all of those facts, and the facts in the Novato case. What's
happening in that park? This litigation now Mr. Priest is the attorney for the
tenants in that. Mr. Kenyon is the attorney for the park, and I think you
should have all the facts in that case, and I don’t have them. But it’s in
litigation.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Let me ask you another question, Mr. Biddle?

I heard some of the issues you raised that the park owners have with
respect to subletting. And let’s just assume you're correct that it’s a 50-50 as
far as parks that allow it versus parks that don’t. If some of those issues that
you raised could be addressed, do you think there would be basically across-
the-board acceptance by park owners to allow subletting?

MR. BIDDLE: A number of years ago, I can’t remember what year it
was, we tried to work this out in a bill. It think it was Assemblyman
McClintock’s bill at that time. And we had worked out all of these problems

that I just reiterated to you, like how do we enforce the rules against the
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subtenant and so forth. And we had them all worked out, and I think we
were very close to reaching agreement on it, and I can’t remember why but
Mr. McClintock dropped the bill at that point. Yes, I think we could work
them out. And we’d be glad to sit down with GSMOL and your committee
and see if we could work them out again as we did a number of years ago.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay, other questions of this panel? No, none?
Okay, thank you each and every one of you.

Let’s call up the next three, and they are Mr. Sams, Mr. Smith, and
Mr. Carter. Mr. Sams.

MR. JIM SAMS: Thank you, Senator Dunn and members of the
Senate Select Committee. My name 1s Jim Sams, and I am a mobilehome
owner living in Olympia Mobile Lodge in Sacramento. I appreciate this
opportunity to testify before your committee.

I was also asked to express these views as those of the watchdog team
of the Mobile Manufactured Homeowners Network, and you have a few
sheets of a brochure in front of you there identifying who we are. I was
privileged as a past officer of a mobilehome organization to work with the late
Len Wehrman, an officer of the National Foundation of Manufactured
Homeowners. He, along with Mr. George Smith, who will testify today, early
on identified the severity of the “double renter” problem. Although we, as a
legislative committee, were not permitted to pursue legislation to deal with
the “double renting” problem last year, we're very happy that it is now being
considered.

Mr. Wehrman was very concerned about the danger to mobilehome
owners and resident organizations should this practice continue unchecked.
Very briefly, I and the watchdog team wish to express concerns about

allowing this practice to continue. In doing so, I wish to commend committee
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chairman, Senator Dunn, and committee consultant, John Tennyson, for the
fine background material they've provided. I’'m concerned about the apparent
“change of use” brought about by this practice. It is detrimental to
mobilehome owners because it produces a strong temptation for park owners
to increase rents that result in bargain basement prices on mobilehomes or
result 1n their abandonment, and thus become available to park owners as
park rentals.

I am also appalled by the threat to rent stabilization areas where
renters of park units can be convinced to approve park owner proposed leases
or rent schedules that result in exemption of the park from local rent control
for mobilehome owners. I agree that this places management in a very
advantageous position. The more mobilehomes the park owner buys, the
more it increases the chance that the park can avoid any control on rents
because it erodes the residents in the park.

Another problem exists because of the present double standard which
you've already mentioned allowing a park owner to rent out a park-owned
mobilehome but denying the same right to a mobilehome owner in the park.
This once again puts further financial pressure on the resident to walk away
from his or her investment because of the nability to rent it. A park owner
then buys the available mobilehome as you've heard at distressed prices and
rents it to someone else. Mobilehome owners must have that same right to
balance the scales. Even the Legislative Counsel’s opinion from 1997, which
you have in your packet, sees a change from mobilehome law to
landlord/tenant law resulting from this continued practice. And the hard
won Mobilehome Residency Law becomes less effective as it is superseded in
this area. Mobilehome park living has a uniqueness which landlord/tenant

law cannot deal with effectively.
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There is one concern about the legislation, AB 1644, by Assemblyman
Floyd. As an aside, I know Assemblyman Floyd is a very dedicated supporter
of mobilehome residents. This is not a criticism, I'm bringing it out because
I'm concerned about it. The statement 1s made that “a change of use” may
not be made where the real purpose is to convert the park to a
landlord/tenant park. How does one prove the intent or real purpose of a
park owner who continues to acquire one mobilehome after another when
mobilehome owners abandon or are financially forced to sell for whatever
reason? My feeling is this weakens the bill.

Nevertheless, 1 wish along with the watchdog team of the Mobilehome
Manufactured Homeowners Network to urge support of AB 1644 and trust
that it will be amended to make it strong enough to stand without a court
challenge. I've taken the liberty of including three proposed amendments
from last year’s legislative session which you'll find in our packet, capitalized
portions within the paragraphs of the amendments which may help solve the
dilemma of “double renting,” and I'm going to leave the identification of those
amendments to Mr. Smith.

I wish to thank you once again for holding this hearing which has such
an important bearing on our continued financial security in the mobilehome
community. Thank you very much.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. Smith.

MR. GEORGE SMITH: Mr. Chairman and members of the
committee, ladies and gentlemen. I reside in the Meadows Mobilehome Park
in El Cajon, California. Having lived there since 1 July, 1980, I've been
involved in mobilehome issues in and out of several organizations since that

date, and continue to be involved today.
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I think it’s very interesting to hear the various approaches between the
park owners and mobilehome owners. The fact that there’s differences 1is not
unusual. That’s always been the case. I want to give you what I believe 1s a
very factual and correct version of what’s actually happening here, and what
1t’s going to do to the Mobilehome Residency Law, and what’s it’s going to do
to mobilehome parks as we know them if some corrections are not made in
the definitions as contained in Section 1.

Basically a steep decline--and you've heard this, but I'm going to repeat
i1t--a steep decline in occupancy in space rental in mobilehome parks resulting
from no competition and high rents has caused the park owner’s income
stream to sharply diminish. Many schemes have surfaced to combat the
problem. One of those most onerous and least publicized is referred to as
“double renter.” The park owner through economic eviction either purchases
mobilehomes for a fraction of their worth, or liens to pay for back rent, and
obtains possession through foreclosure. He then sells the old single-wide, and
replaces it with a double-wide, or in some manner retains the home,
refurbishes it, and then rents the lot and the home as one unit. That’s where
we coined the term in early 1997, “double renting.” He rents the home and
the space as one unit. And that is in every sense of the word, “double
renting.”

Many in and out of the state Legislature, and I also contend that this
constitutes a “change of use” as currently defined in Section 798.10 of the
Mobilehome Residency Law. Further, that space and perhaps that park no
longer fits the definition of a mobilehome park as set forth in Section 798.4 of
the Mobilehome Residency Law. Many rent regulation ordinances accords
and similar legislation requires a certain percentage of homeowners to agree

to a park owner’s rent schedule in order to exempt the park owner from the
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control of that entity by the park owner only. Many such organizations
specify 67 percent of a resident organization must approve before that
schedule can be adopted.

A recent decision--not quite so recent now, made perhaps a year ago--
the city of Santee’s rent review commission permitted a park owner to count
his “double renters” as part of the resident organization. And because of the
current definition of resident in Section 798.11 of the Mobilehome Residency
Law, this resulted in the park owner being enabled to impose a park rent
schedule that was obscene and over a period of 20 years raised rent to well
over a $1,000 per space. (We formerly believe the intent of the Mobilehome
Residency Law 1s to limit the participation in mobilehome park associations
to homeowners.) Homeowners to be redefined to mean those who actually
hold title to their mobilehome or have real estate, personal property, legal
and/or registered owner, the purchaser in a contract of sale. This redefinition
would exclude the “double renter” from being included as a homeowner.

The former state legislative commaittee for GSMOL that sat in 1997 and
again in 1998 advocated that the failure to legislate corrections eliminating
the misuse or unintended use of these definitions will result in the death
knell of all public rent regulations and rental of mobilehome parks in the
state of California.

Very quickly, the changes that in my view should be made in the law to
correct this situation are almost all, in fact, are all contained in the definition
section. Section 798.4, the definition of a mobilehome park, for example. A
mobilehome park is an area of land where two or more mobilehome sites are
rented or held out to rent to accommodate mobilehomes used for human
habitation. We need to add a new subsection (a) which states, “The renting of

a rental park owner or manager of a mobilehome and a mobilehome site or
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space as one unit is not a mobilehome occupying a mobilehome site in a
mobilehome park.” And it isn't. It’s very simple, it is not.

Section 738.9, the definition of homeowner. Homeowner is now defined
as a person who has a tenancy in a mobilehome park under a rental
agreement. We believe the change should be, “Homeowner is defined as a
person or persons who has title to a mobilehome park as a real estate,
personal property, or registered and/or legal owner is a purchaser under a
contract of sale or who has tenancy in a rental mobilehome park under rental
agreement.” Section 798.11, the definition of resident. “Resident is a
homeowner or other person who lawfully occupies a mobilehome.” We need to
add a section. “Other person includes a person or persons who reside in a
rental mobilehome park but does not include a homeowner.”

Section 798.13 of the definition of a homeowners’ association.
“Homeowners’ association is an alliance of homeowners formed to”--this is an
addition by the way, it’s recommended--“homeowners’ association is an
alliance of homeowners formed to represent a mobilehome owner’s residing
and rental in a mobilehome park and the relations with the mobilehome park
owner management and all issues arising between them, and before the
public entity such as city councils, boards of supervisors, rent review
commissions, and any and all similar entities.” Subsection (a), “Homeowners’
association shall be recognized as the official voice of homeowners in a
mobilehome rental park when they represent 70 or more percent of the units
in a mobilehome park.”

The following amendment needs to be made. Section 798.80, the sale of
a park notice by management. “All references to resident organizations shall

be removed and homeowners’ associations shall be substituted therefore as
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defined in Sections 798.13 and 798.13(a), the definition of a homeowner’s
association.”

Thank you. That concludes my testimony.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay, before we move on to Mr. Carter, let me
pose a question to either one of the two of you in the following way. T'll put
myself in the shoes of a park owner, okay? If Mr. Priest was right in his
estimate of the number of parks that may be engaging in this activity, if it
was truly that beneficial to the park owner, why wouldn’t there be more that
are engaging in this activity?

MR. SMITH: I don’t wish to criticize Mr. Priest or challenge his
statement. But at least in my area, which is San Diego, Imperial and
Riverside counties, if I were to use the information that I have in my own
immediate area, I would tell you that probably 95 percent of rental parks
today have some “double renters.” Maybe not all, but some. And I would
suggest and urge that the request for some statistics to be developed is
appropriate. But in my own view and from my own experience with dealing
with the people in these parks, there isn’t a park in my area that doesn’t have
one or more--except ROP, resident owned parks--that does not have some
“double renters.”

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Care to add Mr. Sams? Go ahead.

MR. SAMS: In my response to that, I would say that it’s quite obvious
that if Mr. Priest’s estimate is correct, and I have no way of saying it is not
correct, [ assume it is or at least a rough estimate. If 50 percent of the park
owners are doing it now, [ would say that’s a pretty good indication that there
is something there. When you get 50 percent of park owners doing this, there
is something that’s happening. And also I might call to your attention that

this vacancy that we are seeing in mobilehome parks has occurred to a great
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deal because of the fact that rents have escalated in various areas, maybe
some areas not quite so much as others. However, we are raising rents on
people who are unable to continue paying as the years go by, and they're on
retirement or lesser incomes. So I think that you're seeing a developing
situation which is not going to get any better, it's only going to get worse.

MR. JOHN TENNYSON: IfI may ask a question, Mr. Smith? With
regard to your concerns on the state definitions of resident homeowner and so
forth, if the problem i1s with regard to these definitions as they effect the
mobilehome rent control ordinance in the city of Santee and perhaps a few
other cities, wouldn't it be easier to prevail upon the city council to change
the exemptions or the provisions of the ordinances rather than try to change
the definition of some of these terms in the state law which may affect the
rights of homeowners or residents in other ways that perhaps we cannot
foresee? Case by case, in other words.

MR. SMITH: I understand your question, and that’s been suggested
before, been posed before. And I would tell you that at this point even though
we made an attempt to survey, Santee is not the only one. There’s quite a
few others, and there may be even more. Because I don’t think a good solid
survey has been made. But my point is simply also that one of the things we
need to do legislatively, and I'm sure you gentlemen agree, is we don’t always
react, we all sometimes need to do some preventative maintenance. And if
this 67 percent rule is not addressed statewide, then there’s nothing at all to
prevent any jurisdiction that is prevailed upon to use the 67 percent rule in
any of their rent regulation ordinances. And so if we're going to address the
issue after the fact, it’s my view that we also ought to address it before the

fact and prevent that from ever happening. Because if we don’t, then that
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very thing is going to be used to take those parks out from under rent control
and so far as that particular municipality’s concerned.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay, let’s go on. Mr. Carter.

MR. SCOTT CARTER: Yes, Scott Carter. I own a small mobilehome
park in El Sobrante, California. I've also been a property manager of
mobilehome parks since 1986, and--I think 1t was pointed out today, and it’s
important to look at the reason park owners are renting out mobilehomes and
have been in the 90s. It’s been due to the poor economic climate for resales in
mobilehomes that many park owners have been forced to take this kind of
action to maintain their economic viability. And Jeri McLees addressed this
1ssue rather well, and, I think, it would pay well to re-read her remarks.

In many cases, this included buying mobilehomes that weren'’t selling
and then renting them out. The committee has described this as “double
renting.” In 1992 when I purchased my small, older mobilehome park in El
Sobrante, there were two vacant mobilehomes being offered for sale, and no
vacant spaces. The mobilehomes had been on the market for several months
with no takers. Finally the mobilehome park owner, which happened to be
the city of San Pablo, sold both of them to an individual who took them out of
the park. I was left with two vacant spaces. It took several months to fill
these spaces. Even then, I was only able to obtain tenants with recreational
vehicles.

Another less desirable space remained vacant nearly two years after
that owner removed her trailer. I have kicked myself a hundred times for not
buying those units myself and renting them out to others until the market
returned. During this same poor economic climate for resales in the early
90s, the owners of a mobilehome park in Concord were dismayed to find that

the residents were not able to sell their mobilehomes and were taking them
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out of the park leaving vacant spaces as we've already heard testified to in
Southern California. The park owners decided to buy a new a mobilehome
and place it on one of these vacant spaces and market the home. Over a year
went by and they had no takers for that home. They even reduced their price
down to their cost, their actual bare cost, and they got a discount price, they
were dealers. And they couldn’t sell that home. In desperation to obtain at
least some income from the space, they rented--or as this committee has
called “doubled rented”--the mobilehome.

With the continuing flight of mobilehomes apparent due to death,
transfers to nursing homes and other transfers, the park owners started
buying up the homes for sale. The mobilehome park spent thousands of
dollars to make these homes habitable, and then rented them out in order to
keep the mobilehome park financially seaworthy.

By 1996, the park owned more than 21 mobilehomes. The park owners
in this case didn’t want to rent mobilehomes. They had no choice. They
knew that their management and maintenance intensity would be increased
with the mobilehome renters, and they had to hire more staff for both
administration and maintenance. The renters would only stay for months
usually unlike mobilehome owners who stay for years. The increased costs of
maintenance, advertising, showing, qualifying, and collecting rents with
some periods of vacancies cost these owners a lot of money.

As a farther complication to the park owners’ task to try and
economically manage their investment, the city of Concord passed an onerous
rent control ordinance, one of the hardest in the state allowing only 60
percent recovery of the rental loss due to inflation. Needless to say, these
park owners decided it was time to get out of the business and sold their park

to another. Since that sale, the market for resales for mobilehomes has

45



begun to return. The new park owner began selling off his rental stock of
mobilehomes, and today there are but a few owned by that park owner.

What problems exist for mobilehome owners renting spaces in these
parks where we see this thing happening? Well, first of all, it’s well known,
at least in the lending community, that people who have an investment in
their homes, a sizable or significant down payment, are much more likely to
take care of that investment and preserve the security. Likewise in
mobilehome parks, mobilehome park owners that are operating a park with
the intent of having an investment want to maintain the quality of the
environment and the value of the park. And incidentally, it maintains the
value of the mobilehomes in those parks.

Homeowners are more likely as a class to keep up the appearances of
their homes. The neighbors to these mobilehome owners are the incidental
beneficiaries of this behavior. Vacant properties and, to some lesser degree,
properties occupied by a tenant with no vested interest generally tend to
reduce the desirability of the surrounding properties. Park owners generally
will hire professionals to manage their parks, the larger parks anyway, and
these folks have acquired skills over the years in screening applicants and
qualifying them for tenancy. Also, because they’re managing the park day-to-
day, they're going to see to it that space maintenance concerns are addressed,
the rents are paid, and conduct problems between one tenant and another are
dealt with.

Park owners are generally reluctant to permit subletting because the
mobilehome owners are absentee landlords, typically unable and often
unwilling to exercise proper oversight as traditionally done by professionals
or park owners who are at the properties. As a rule, the absentee

mobilehome owners have no skill or experience in selecting or counseling
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tenants, and are prone to make crucial errors of judgement. Because of this,
their spaces end up showing a deteriorated condition and the subtenant’s
lack of appreciation or respect for the neighboring homeowners.

The subtenant has no direct tenancy relationship with the park
manager, and they often act as if they are immune to park rules and
regulations, and that’s been pointed out today as well. Park management
lacking any direct authority over the sub-tenancy is frustrated with having to
deal with an absentee tenant/landlord who isn’'t able to and is often lacking in
appreciation of their duty to deal with the problems the subtenant is causing
for the park and its other residents.

Because of the incumbent delays and impediments built into the
mobilehome residency law designed to protect homeowners who occupy their
homes, management is not able to effectively deal with subtenants over
which they have no direct control. On the other hand, where management
rents both the mobilehome and the space, it has direct control over the
tenancy and can effectively and efficiently correct the occasional situation of a
bad tenant using general landlord/tenant law. While an absentee
mobilehome owner has that same procedure available to them, they're far
less likely to use it because of more limited financial resources, and the
tenanted interest in correcting problems such as poor landscape maintenance
or conduct deemed offensive to the neighboring mobilehome owners.

One of my concerns that was brought up by Mr. Sams and Mr. Smith is
these local municipalities that have rent control, and they're a minority in
the state. I think the paper indicated only 100 of these municipalities have
some form of rent control out of perhaps as many as 400. The local
government has the ability to reshape and amend these ordinances. If they

find that the ordinances fail to adequately serve their intended purposes, and
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they often do amend these ordinances. Since California recognizes rent
control as a local prerogative, it should recognize the constitutional
qualifications for applying these ordinances as local prerogatives too.

I believe the state should recognize that the economic crisis faced by
mobilehome owners in the early part of this decade was a crisis faced by
Californians on a broad basis. That crisis is now generally over. Mobilehome
parks offer a unique and positive solution to homeownership for many
Californians, and legislation at this time that would further deplete or
restrict property rights of mobilehome park investors would exacerbate the
decline of mobilehome parks in California. The Legislature, I would hope,
would seek ways to attract more investors to build and operate parks and be
watchful that their well-intentioned legislation does not destroy the future
viability of this form of housing as an attractive investment.

Finally, comment. Mr. Biddle, I believe, indicated that it was his belief
that perhaps as many as 50 percent of the mobilehome parks in California
allow subletting. I disagree with that. I don’t know if a survey has actually
been done, but I can tell you clearly in the areas that I've been operating as a
property management company, and that’s typically Northern California, less
than 10 percent of the parks’ rules allow subletting, whereas at least
probably 50 percent of the parks do own homes in the park and rent them
out.

Typically, they don’t seek that kind of business because of the
management intensity and the additional cost, and the turnover, and the
resultant depreciation in the overall value of the park. They typically buy
these mobilehomes because they want to keep the baby alive. They want to

keep the income coming in until the market is better, and they can resell
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those homes to a responsible homeowner who will take pride of ownership
and be a good addition to the community.

I don’t think it would be in the best interest of these residents here.
These folks to me appear to be the folks that want to live out their lives in
their communities, and they want to preserve their investments. They’re not
seeking to move out and sublet their homes. However, if legislation were to
occur that brought about the right for tenants to sublet their homes, it would,
in my opinion depreciate the value of their homes and their quality of life and
their environment because of the increased turnover and the quality of
renters that would be brought in by people not skilled in screening those
tenants and further not in a position because they're absentee to oversee that
tenancy for the benefit of the other residents in the park.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Mr. Carter, let me put myselfin the shoes of the
resident now. I asked these two gentlemen when I was putting myself in the
shoes as a park owner, would you agree with the current state of the law that
if there was an unscrupulous park owner out there that wanted to drive down
the value of the homes of the residents could do that under the current state
of the law, such as I think in the case that Mr. Priest talked about filing a
notice to convert? Would you agree that that by itself would drive down the
value of the homes in that particular park?

MR. CARTER: I think the fact that the law in California requiring us
to give a one-year notice of our intent to convert a park by that fact alone is
going to reduce the value in the mind of a purchaser who wants to locate in
that mobilehome park. A person that wants to buy a mobilehome generally

intends to live there for years. They don’t intend to live there for six months
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or a year. And if the home is, in fact, going to be converted to another use,
then that shunts that purpose. And the value is going to go down.

Persons who buy mobilehomes as a form of occupancy, are buying two
things. One, they're buying the mobilehome itself which has a certain
intrinsic value. And two, they're buying the right to live in a particular
location assuming they've been approved for occupancy. (In California
through its law has given these people a perpetual right of tenancy.) That
perpetual right of tenancy has limitations. The limitations are that they
must comply with reasonable rules and regulations, and they must pay their
rent and not substantially annoy other tenants.

Assuming that time goes by and rent control is passed, the value of the
right to occupy that space in dollars and cents, intrinsically, is reduced in
relationship to the value of purchasing from a homeowner that’s already got
the right to live there. They're paying three things then. They're paying for
the value of the home, they're going to be paying for the right to pay that rent
and that has significant value.

If a park owner has been reduced in his ability to achieve profitability
in that park, and the trend in that community has been to re-zone and
change the highest and best use for that land to some other purpose, the park
owner will be tempted or his successor tempted to convert that use. And in
preserving property for low cost housing, sometimes cities may be hurting
themselves to pass legislation that is going to reduce the ability of that park
to remain viable.

Certainly, giving homeowners the right to sublet mobilehomes in the
park is going to take away some of the ability of a park owner to maintain the
environment, the aesthetic environment, and economically viable

environment of that mobilehome park as a community.
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CHAIRMAN DUNN: Okay.

Let’s bring up our last two witnesses. Thank each of you.

Our last two witnesses are Ms. Jones and Mr. Harrison.

MS. LUCILLE JONES: Some of this may be repeat, but I'll try--

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Yeah, try to eliminate the repetitious stuff.

MS. JONES: Senator Dunn and members of the Senate Select
Committee on Mobile and Manufactured Homes. My name is Lucille Jones,
and I'm past president of the Golden State Mobilehome Owners League.

I'm here today to give you some background on AB 1644 by
Assemblyman Floyd which addresses the subject of “double renting” in
mobilehome parks. When mobilehome parks are developed, they are
established as rental parks with the homeowner purchasing the home and
renting the space upon which it sits. A few years back due to the increases in
space rent and the depressed state of the mobilehome market, many
homeowners had to walk away from their homes or in some cases sell their
homes to park owners at far below market value. Plainly economic eviction.

Most park rules and regulations state homeowners are not permitted to
sublet their homes. However, when a park owner rents a home, he is
permitted to rent the home and space, hence the term “double renting.” In
1997, the question of this practice was directed to Senator Craven by Len
Wehrman who was the vice president of the National Foundation of
Manufactured Homeowners and a GSMOL member with the request that a
written response be obtained from the Legislative Counsel. Mr. Wehrman’s
original request is part of the packet that I just presented to you, and the

response from the Legislative Counsel was made a part of the information

paper.
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Unfortunately, Mr. Wehrman passed away in 1998, and he asked Inge
Swaggart of GSMOL and me to continue his work. This year the request was
submitted to the GSMOL legislative committee and was subsequently
approved. The information paper covers most of the information about which
Len was concerned. So I won’t repeat it here. In the information paper, it
states that the Department of Housing and Community Development, HCD,
has no information or statistics available on how many mobilehomes and
parks are owned by park management, or park operators and rented out to
tenants. To remedy this, I would suggest that in as much as park owners
have to renew their license to operate a mobilehome park once each year, it
would be very simple for HCD to include in the application to renew, a simple
statement, “How many spaces and homes are rented as one unit?” After one
year this information should be provided to the Senate Select Commaittee by
HCD. This would provide the statistics that are needed to support this bill.

Likewise, local jurisdictions, cities, and counties must bear some
responsibility to check mobilehome parks to determine that they are being
operated as originally established. The practice of park owners being both
landlords and park owners, in fact two businesses, a commercial and a
residential, could cause incorrect information being provided to rent
stabilization jurisdictions when hearings are held to review rent increases.
This also has a bearing on home values and selling prices. The effect upon
renters who in talking with neighbors could find out that the homeowners
have protection under the Mobilehome Residency L.aw, whereas as a renter
would come under the landlord/tenant law and have no protection is
apparent. A good example is if a renter fails to pay rent, all that is required
is a three-day notice to pay rent or quit. Whereas homeowners have

protection of the MRL Section 798.56.
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Mobilehome living is unique in that it is a community within a
community generally with the GSMOL chapter and a homeowners’
association to help the homeowners understand their rights and remedies to
live within the rules and regulations of the park. Some people like
mobilehome living. Others don’t like being controlled in what they can or
cannot do to their homes. Each homeowner is different. The practice of
“double renting” is simply doing away with mobilehome living as we now
know 1it. When you have homeowners and renters in the same area, there 1s
bound to eventually be friction between the two factions. If this practice is
allowed to continue and expand as 1s presently the situation, it will in the
long run seriously threaten the viability and livability of the homes in the
community as we now know them.

AB 1644 by Assemblyman Floyd will help to correct the practice of
“double renting” of mobilehomes in parks that were originally established as
rental parks where the homeowner owns the homes but rents the space upon
which it sits.

Thank you.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Thank you, Ms. Jones.

Mr. Harrison.

MR. HARRISON: Thank you and good afternoon. And Mr.
Chairman, Honorable Senators, allow me to express my appreciation for the
opportunity to address the issue that is before you here today. First, I want
to take this opportunity to state for the record that I have been authorized to
offer testimony on this manner in the name of the Congress of California
Seniors.

Mobilehome owners in the name of fairness, rightfully feel that if park

owners rent homes that they have acquired, residents should be allowed to do
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the same. There may be some parks that do allow subletting, but they
appear to be a rarity. One such I'm told is Cameron Park Mobile Estates in
El Dorado County. This same park, however, has a “no subletting” rule. The
residents themselves in some parks would prefer that their neighbors not be
allowed to sublet. However, the residents that hold that position, do not
appear to have the need to sublet their own homes.

Experience has shown that the means by which park owners gain
possession of the homes they rent is of equal if not more concern than the
“double renting” itself. The “double renting” issue frequently surfaces when
the survivors of a deceased homeowner, while in a process of settling the
estate, attempts to sell the mobilehome in place. The family of the departed
homeowner soon learns that it is taking an unusual length of time to sell the
home. And during a process of sale, the necessity of having to continue to pay
the space rent is eating into whatever equity remains in the home. And it is
not uncommon that even though the home is not occupied, the park will
demand utility payments as well. Far too frequently, the seller will conclude
that there 1s not enough equity left in the home and abandons it. And all the
while the park owner is renting out homes that he has acquired, but will not
allow residents to do likewise.

The families of homeowners who have been placed in nursing homes
suffer the same fate. Inexplicable space rent increases that go beyond the
financial ability of the homeowners, unilateral space-renting increases on
resale, the employment by the park of an unlawful checklist determining
certain conditions to be met before resale, unilateral denial of a prospective
homeowner on resale, unlawfully demanding the removal of a home from the
park on resale, or the removal of a single-wide on resale are all additional

factors contributing to abandonment, or selling at nothing more than salvage
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value. These factors are additional means by which park owners add to their
stock of homes to be used for “double renting.”

In all fairness what is a park owner to do but rent a mobilehome that
has irreverently befallen him. I submit that the ill-begotten gain is the real
issue and requires intervention. Intervention could, I believe, be in a form of
some amendments to the MRL, the Mobilehome Residency Law. I have first-
hand knowledge of park owners’ circumvention of Section 798.74 of the MRL.
This statute which is clear in it’s intent to allow only two areas of inquiry of a
prospective homeowner is violated time and time again.

The statute providing for the removal upon sale to a third party,
Section 798.73, could also use some fine tuning. It appears as though some
park owners only read as far as they want to. They don’t seem to notice that
removal upon sale will occur only after, and I quote, “As determined following
an inspection by the appropriate enforcement agency.” And it goes without
saying that park owners are not an enforcement agency. Yet many park
owners tell a homeowner that the home will have to be removed upon sale,
thereby cutting the value of the home to a point of worthlessness.

As to why there is such prevalence in a practice of “double renting,”
there may be some confusion among those who practice it. We see references
to park owners providing housing and owning housing communities. Perhaps
some park owners believe that their business ventures are no different than
operating an apartment complex. We all know, I'm sure, that when the
operator of a mobilehome park rents both the space and the home, which is
sited upon it, the occupant of that home does not enjoy the benefits and
protection of the MRL. The MRL gives that person a residency only, and all
the rights of tenancy can be denied. Those holding such a residency could be

denied the use of all of the common area facilities, and please see Sections
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798.11 and 798.12 of the MRL definition of resident and definition of tenancy,
respectively.

It goes without saying that the “double renting” issue is in dire need of
addressing and intervention 1s called for. I will conclude with the admonition
that to mitigate the problem, there is a need to include a strong consideration
for amendments to the statues already mentioned.

Thank you for your kind attention and consideration to the forgoing
remarks.

CHAIRMAN DUNN: Thank you, Mr. Harrison. Senator Morrow, any
question? No.

That’s going to conclude it for today. I think the one thing that we were
able to gather out of today as was suggested early on is we need to look at the
extent of this issue, subletting, or “double renting” depending upon your
perspective, of course. And I think we will, of course, do that to gather more
of the facts and figures to determine, “a”, if we do have a problem, and “b”, if
so what would be the solutions without presuming an answer to either one of
those questions at this point in time.

We will review all the testimony today, and both the transcript and a
report will be available in approximately 30 to 40 days for those of you who
are interested in the outcome of today’s hearing.

Again, I thank all the witnesses very much. Thank you, the two of you,
and that ends the hearing today. Thanks.

--00000--
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Summary and Conclusion

Mobilehome owner representatives testified that park owners are buying up mobilehomes
in parks throughout the state to circumvent local rent control, park conversion ordinances and the
Mobilehome Residency Law. Some claimed this is a growing and alarming trend, the effect of
which is to put mobilehome owners who continue to own their homes in parks at a disadvantage
by facilitating additional rent increases, making it more difficult or impossible for homeowners
to sell their homes, and devaluing the investment in their homes. Homeowner representatives
claimed that 50% of the parks in the state are buying up homes in their parks (one homeowner
testified to 95% in the San Diego area) and about 2% of the park are trying to close or convert
their parks to another use.

Homeowner recommendations varied from recommending that the Department of
Housing (HCD) do a survey on the issue to prohibiting parks from changing the use of the park
and terminating the tenancy of mobilehome owners where the real purpose is to buy-out
homeowners and continue operation of the park (AB-1644). Others testified that the Legislature
needs to clarify the rights of those who rent mobilehomes versus mobilehome owners for
purposes of local rent control by changing various definitions of homeowners and residents in
the Mobilehome Residency Law. And implicit in some homeowner remarks is the ever present
issue of subletting. Homeowners’ representatives believe that if park owners can buy up the
homes and rent them out directly, then homeowners should not be denied the opportunity of
subletting their mobilehomes in the park as well.

Park owner representatives contended that, even though there may be a few isolated
cases, there is no evidence of a growing trend of park owners buying up the homes in the parks

in order to take advantage of homeowners and disputed homeowner claims that 50% of the
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Summary

the parks are buying out homes and 2% are closing the parks. Park owners said that in most
cases, other than employee housing, park owners buy the homes and rent them out directly out of
necessity. The economic decline of the early ‘90’s (and in some areas, like Sacramento, market
conditions even in the mid to late ‘90°s) led to a situation where homeowners themselves could
not sell their homes to other homeowners or there was a growing vacancy factor in the park.

A couple park owner representatives testified that they were not otherwise interested in
buying mobilehomes in their parks and renting them out like apartments, but to keep the park
rental income flowing in, and to help some of the seniors needing to leave the park, some parks
bought the homes from the owners wishing to move or brought in new homes to fill the
vacancies. Park owners couldn’t sell them either, so they rented them out instead. A couple
representatives testifying for park owners addressed the subletting issue, intimating that
homeowners are pumping up the double-renting issue to push through subletting legislation.
Park owners offered no recommendations other than to suggest the issue needs more study.

The Select Committee has received a number of letters or calls concerning the so-called
‘buy-out’ of mobilehomes in parks in San Diego, Marin and Sonoma counties, and there appears
to be a problem in some parks. The real extent of the problem, however, is unknown at this
time. At the printing of this report, AB-1644 (Floyd), the double-renting bill sponsored by
GSMOL, has become a ‘two year’ bill in the Assembly Housing and Community Development
Committee. In the current form of the bill, it is unclear how local government will determine
the real intent of the park owner, in following through on closure of the park, at the time the park
seeks approval for closure or change of use. Perhaps alternatives could include provisions that

only permit renting of mobilehomes by park owners for a limited period — say 18 months —
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Summary

before the park is closed, or a limit on the percentage of the homes in the park the park could buy
and rent out during a given time period. Likewise, suggestions that the Legislature change
definitions of “homeowner’ or ‘resident’ in the Residency Law to better fit the particular
circumstances of various rent control ordinances would be better directed at trying to change the
local rent ordinances which have created various exemptions or problems for homeowners. One
shoe doesn’t fit all. But, the Legislature could give consideration to clarifying that either certain
significant or selected provisions of the Mobilehome Residency Law apply to both homeowners
and other residents, including tenants. To that extent, such a change would serve as a
disincentive for parks to buy up mobilehomes and “double-rent” them in order to circumvent the
Residency Law.

In any case, one suggestion made at the hearing by one witness, that a survey by the
Department of Housing (or perhaps another agency) be made to determine the extent of the
problem, i.e. the number of mobilehomes owned by the park owner in each park that is issued a
renewal of its annual permit to operate, may be a good starting point.

#OHH
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CALIFORNIA LEGISLATURE--1999-2000 REGULAR SESSION

ASSEMBLY BILL No. 1644

Introduced by Assembly Member Floyd

March 4, 1999

An act to amend Sections 798.23 and 798.56 of the Civil
Code, relating to mobilehome parks.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 1644, as introduced, Floyd. Mobilehome parks.

Existing law, the Mobilehome Residency Law, provides that
the owner of a mobilehome park and the employees thereof
are bound by all park rules and regulations to the same extent
as residents and their guests, but that this provision neither
validates nor invalidates, and expresses no legislative policy
regarding, rules and regulations prohibiting or restricting the
subletting of a mobilehome park space.

This bill would delete the latter provision.

Existing law provides that a mobilehome park tenancy may
be terminated by the management only for specified reasons,
including a change of use, as defined, provided specified
conditions are met.

This bill would provide that the management of a
mobilehome park may not change the use of the mobilehome
park for the purpose of compelling existing homeowners
renting spaces within the park to move from the park or to sell
mobilehomes to the park ownership or management, where
the sole purpose thereof is for the management to rent
mobilehomes, located on those mobilehome park spaces, to
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AB 1644

others. The bill would also set forth the findings and
declarations of the Legislature in this regard.

Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: no.
State-mandated local program: no.

The people of the State of California do enact as follows:

SECTION 1. Section 798.23 of the Civil Code is
amended to read:

798.23. (a) The owner of the park, and any person
employed by the park, shall be subject to, and comply
with, all park rules and regulations, to the same extent as
residents and their guests.

(b) This section shall not apply to either of the
following:

(1) Any rule or regulation that governs the age of any
resident or guest.

(2) Acts of a park owner or park employee which are
undertaken to fulfill a park owner’s maintenance,
management, and business operation responsibilities.

a-tenant

SEC. 2. Section 798.56 of the Civil Code is amended
to read:

798.56. A tenancy shall be terminated by the
management only for one or more of the following
reasons:

(a) Failure of the homeowner or resident to comply
with a local ordinance or state law or regulation relating
to mobilehomes within a reasonable time after the
homeowner receives a notice of noncompliance from the
appropriate governmental agency.

(b) Conduct by the homeowner or resident, upon the
park premises, that constitutes a substantial annoyance to
other homeowners or residents.

99

61



._.
OO 00 J NN W) —

—_— e

—
-~ N

[SEPN
O oo

b2

ErSRVSIRUS USROS I US I US IR S IRV JIUS S US I 1O I N6 I S T NG T S5 T NG T NG T SO
SO0 -1 NN PR WN— OO0 -JC b AW —_—

AB 1644

(c) Conviction of the homeowner or resident for
prostitution or a felony controlled substance offense if the
act resulting in the conviction was committed anywhere
on the premises of the mobilehome park, including, but
not limited to, within the homeowner’s mobilehome.

However the tenancy may not be terminated for the
reason specified in this subdivision if the person convicted
of the offense has permanently vacated, and does not
subsequentl<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>